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Daniel Trammel (Seal), Wit: John Ewart, William Birdsong.

Pp. 24-25: Will of John Waters of Union County, planter... 10 Aug
1786 ... to my brother Mosses Waters, tract of land on Thickety
Creek whereon the said Mosses Waters now lives, 133 1/3 acres, my
wearing clothes and ail the remainder of my estate except a negro
fellow Lewis which I give to my sisters son Thomas Ownbey; my
brother Mosses Waters exr... John Waters (Seal), Wit: James Terrell,
Thomas Wright, Samuel Shippy.

Pp. 2526: Thomas Brandon of South Carolina, Union County, sold to
James Adams McCool, negro boy about four years old called
Abraham, and for one guinea ... 24 Sept 1787. Thomas Brandon
(Seal), Wit: William Johnson, Joseph Havard, William Hughes,

Pp. 26-27: John Steen of Union County, bound to Charles Miles of
same, for £ 800, 10 Nov 1786 to make title to a tract of land of
§00 acres on Thickety adj. John Thomson, Francis Lattimore, includes
the mill shole .. John Steen {Seal), Wit: Francis Lattimore, Philip
Shavour (S). Proved in open Court by ocath of both witnesses and
recorded 25 Sept 1787,

Pp. 27-28: John Nuckolds of Craven County, Ninety Six District,
bound to John Davison of same district, for £ 500 currency, 27 Jul
1774.... to make title for 200 acres on the Ridge between Thickety
and Broad River formerly surveyed by William McCowan, and
patterned (sic) by James Parvert Esquire, Deputy Surveyor of North
Carolina, it being the place whereon the said John Davison now lives
... John Nuckols (Seal), Wit: James Brown, John Gilliam, August
13th 1773, | have received of John Davison one note of William
McCowans and one horse which I allow at L 100 each ... Wit: Will
Minter. October 20th 1774, Received of John Davidson, £ 10 s 12
« John Nuckols.

Pp. 28-29: Bill of Sale. Willlam Thomson of South Carolina, County
of Spartanburgh, planter, for £ 50 sterling to William Hendley of
County of Union, planter ... negro girl about 8 years old Suza ... 1
Dec 1787. William Thomson (Seal), Wit: William Bostick, Richard
Thomson.

Pp. 29-30: April 27 1786, South Carolina, Union County. Robert Linn
of County aforesaid, sold to Adam Thomson, one Pided Cow, one
White Cow and yearlan, one black cow with a white face and calf,
one mare, bed and furniture, pot and pan, for £ 20 sterling. Robert
Linn. Test: Josiah Tanner, James Thompson,

Pp. 30-31: James Henry, of Barkley County, Amelia Township, bound
to Richard Hughes of same province and Craven County .. for £
500 current money of SC, 14 Feb 1772 ... to make title to Richard
Hughes for 250 acres in the County of Craven, South Carolina ...
james Henry {Seal), Wit: David George, William Hardwick. Proved by
william Hardwick, 25 Sept 1787, before Thomas Brandon, J. P.

Pp. 31-32: John Steen of province of South Carolina, bound to David
Stockton of province of North Carolina, County of Roan, for £ 10,000
current money of SC, 22 Oct 1776 .. to make title for a tract of
land clear of Back Quitrents, on Thickety adj, lands granted to Adam
Gowdelock, Captain James Steen, Francis Latimore, including 100
acres granted to Henry Titmore, by estimation 400 acres ... to be
paid by 1 Nov 1783 ... John Steen {Seal), Wit: John Nuckols, John
Thompson. Proven In open Court and Recorded 25th Septr 1787,

Pp. 32-33: Garland Hardwick of County of Union, SC, Ninety Six
District, planter, for good wil! and affection to my loving Nancy
Hardwick Taylor of same county, and the heir of her body, in default
of such heirs to fall to my sister Nancy Taylor her mother and the
heirs of her body, one negro girl Mariah ... 10 Oct 1787 ... Garland
Hardwick (Seal), Wit: William Hardwick, Nancy Daniel (X), Molley
Hardwick (X).

Pp. 33-34: Will of William Wafford of Union County, SC... to my son
Absolam one shilling sterling; to my daughter Elizabeth Rhodes, one
shilling sterling; to my daughter Hannah Merchant, one shilling
sterling; to my daughter Mary Brian(?), one shilling sterling; to my
beloved wife Abigail, all the Ttemainder of my estate ; after her
decease to my daughter Rebecah and her heirs; daughter Rebecah
executrix ... 28 Mar 1787 .. Willim Wafford {W) ({Seal), Wit
Jeremiah Wilson (X), Ambrose Yarborough, Thomas Tod.

Pp. 34-35: Thomas Brandon of SC, Union County, sell to Danlel
White, negro girl about two and a half years old Darkis, for £ 30 ...
8 Nov 1787. Thos Brandon (Seal), Wit: Jeremiah Gregory.

Pp, 35-36: Benjamin Gilbert of SC, Newberry County, to J@ES“B/B]_L,)
of County of Union, one pybald Stallion, saddle, etc,, (marks given)
«. for the discharging of a debt of £ 50 sterling due from said
Gilbert to Willlam Shaw and costs of suit ... 24 Jun 1789, Benjamin
Gilbert (Seal), Wit: Daniel Jackson, Thomas Brandon.

Pp. 36-37: Will of James Prince of Union County ... to my wife

Sisely, one bay mare Bounce, one bed stead, bed and furniture called
our bed &c, three pewter plates and one small dish, two cows and

&




Pp. 1-2: April Intermediate Court 1792, 3rd day. Will of David
Chisholm proved in open Court by Jesse Mabry and John Beckham
Junr,

Will of David Chisholm of Union Co.... to my father, all the cash I
have in hand with what money | have lent out; the balance of my
estate to my brothers and sister: my negroes to remain untill my
brother Samuel arrives to the age of 10 years; friends John
Henderson & Obediah Trimmier and my brother Willlam my exrs...
27 Dec 1791, David Chisholm (X) (Seal), Wit: Charles Green, Jesse
Mabry, John Beckham Ju'r.

Pp. 2-3: April Intermediate Court, 3rd day., Will of David Stockton
Deceased proved by Angelica Mitchell.

Will of David Stockton of Ninety Six Destrict, Union Co.... my wife
Margaret Stockton to have the one half of my estate, both real &
personal, then to my son Benjamin Stockton; my son Benjamin
Stockton the remainder part of my estate; my friend Willlam
Buckhannon, exr.., 14 July 1791, David Stockton (Seal), Wit: Angelica
Mitchell, Wm Dodgen, Thomas Holsey (X).

Pp. 3-6: April Intermediate Court, 1792, 4th day.
Plummer proved in open Court by John Stiles,

Will of Willlam

Wwiil of Willlam Plummer of Union Co.... to my well beloved wife, all
lands and tenaments to have as she shall lived and remain my widow
bearing my name; to my well beloved Christian Plummer, all my
Household goods, she shall pay ocut of my estate within twelve
months after my decease £ 30 to Melon Wood, son of Pegga Wood; £
30 to said Melon Wood; after the decease of my said wife Christian
Plummer, all my lands shall be appraised by three honest freeholders
to be chosen by the executors, and sold at public vendue; £ 25 to my
loving sister Rebeckah Moore; the remainder of the money shall be
divided into two equal parts and one half to my beloved brother
Thomas Plummer living in Lancaster County, Pennsylvania, and if he
dieth before he shall receive the same, to his eidest son; the other
half to my loving Brother Danlel Plummer, and if he decased be he
receives it, to his daughter Elenor Pritchett; all the moveable estate
heretofore mentioned shall remain untill the decease of my sald wife
Christian Plummer, that do cause it to be equally divided and the
one half be glven to her brother Moses Collyer, and the other half to
my nephew Alex Cox; my wife Christlan Plummer & friends George
Harland hatter and Aaron Fincher, exrs... 9 Aug 1791. William
Plummer (W) (Seal), Wit: John Stiles, Willlam Morgan, Jemima
Morgan,
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Pp. 6-7: September Intermediate Court, 1792, 4 day, Will of Edward
Sanders Porter proved by Nicholas Lazarus,

Will of Edward Sanders Porter of Union Co,.. to my loving wife
during the term of her widowhood, the house wherein [ now dwell,
cattle, hogs, shepp, etc, and at her marrying or death to be equally
divided among all my children; to my son Edwin Porter, one bay
mare, likewise to my son Epaphroditus, a stalling colt Selah; my two
eldest sons Landlot Porter & Hancock Porter, exrs.. 1 Dec 1791.
Edward Sanders Porter (X) (LS), Wit: William Campbell, Jesse Holcom
(X), Nicholas Lazarus (X).

Pp. 8-9: April Intermediate Court, 1793, 1 day. Will of Daniel
Comer proved by James Bell and James Brandon,

Will of Daniel Comer of Unlon Co.... all my estate to be equally
divided amongst my surviving children to wit John, Thomas, Danlel,
Samuel, Anis, Joseph Fletchal and Mary Comer wife of Thomas
Comer; Colo Thomas Brandon and my son John extx, but should Colo
Brandon depart this life, 1 appoint James Bell in his stead, 14 Feb
1793, Daniel Comer (D) (Seal), Wit: james Bell, James Brandon, Sarah
Savage,

Pp. 9-12: April Intermediate Court, 1793 Ist day. Will of James
Hawkins was proved by the affirmation of Henry Millhouse and
Thomas Cox,

Will of James Hawkins of Union Co.... t¢ my beloved wife Martha {
i Hawkins, L 10 sterling a year during her life and five hundred wetght

of Flower and three hundred weight of Pork, my grew mare, one of
the cows, the household furniture, after her decease to be equally
divided amongst my children; to my_son Issac Hawkins, tract of 100
acres granted to Jonathan Hawkins; to my sons Isaac and Nathan
Hawkins, 400 acres granted to Amos Tims, In 1774; to my son John

awkins, two tracts of land, one of 100 acres the other 180 acres;
to6 my two_sons- Benjamin and Amos Hawkins, 400 acres adj, sald
Benjamin and Amos Hawkins land; to my son William Hawkins, 180
acres on the branches of Cane . ek ad], George Strawn; to my son
James Hawkins, the plantation where [ now live and another tract
adj, to it, 170 acres; to my sons_William and Amos Hawkins, two
thirds of a tract of 100 acres on north side of Tygar River adj. land
granted to one Beeks; remainder divided between my seven sons
except a legacy for my daughter Martha Cook of L_80 sterling to be
reserved out of it; If any differénce should arise between any of the
legatees mentioned in this will all Difference shall be determine in a
friendly way by four honest men chosen by the Religious Meeting of

~




the People call'd Quakers; my sons Isaac Hawkins and john Hawkins,

exrs, 24 day of the Twelfth month, 1796, Jam&s Hawkins Senr {Seal),
‘Wit: Thomas Cox, Richard Cox, Henry Millhou§&————

1793,

Pp. 12-14: April Intermediate Court,
Prince proved in open Court.

1 day., Will of Daniel

Will of Daniel Prince of Union Co., planter... to my beloved wife
Lydia Prince, 1/3 part of my lands the place where I now live with
1/3 of all perscnal property; to my two sons William Prince and
Joseph Prince, all my lands divided between them, on the condition
that they in doing justice to my other sons do pay In good Trade the
sum of £ 40, that is to say £ 10 sterling to John Prince the eldest
brother, £ 10 to my son Richard Prince, £ 10 to my son Edward
Prince, and £ 10 to my son Isam Prince; my children John Prince,
Richard Prince, Isam Prince, William Prince, Joseph Prince, Elizabeth
Prince, Sarah Prince, Celia Prince; friends Solomon Wilson and John
Addington, exrs... 25 July 1791. Daniel Prince {Q) (LS), Wit: Mosses
Collyer, Willtam Morgan, Darcas Collyer (X),

Pp. 14-16: September Intermediate Court. 1793, 2 day. Will of John
Harrington proved by Drury Harrington & Abraham Guiton.

Will of John Harrington_of Union Co... Eapny my well beloved wife
do posseés‘?ﬁﬂ'ﬁﬂﬁgrgs— her natural Right all my Estate Real and
personal during her life or widowhood, in case my wife marries or
dieth before my children cometh of age, then my executors shall
keep my estate together and make the best they can of it for the
Raising and Educating of my children till they all come of age and
then to be equally divided amongst my children male and female in
any manner that the major part of them shall agree upon; my
%TW%W my son_In law and Nicholas Corry,
exrs... 12 Nov 1792, Harrington (X) (Seal), Wit; Abraham

@, Joseph Moorhead, joMn (), Drury Harrington.™™——

Pp. 16-17: September Intermediate Court 1793, 3 day.
George Crossley proved by Thomas Sumar and John Stokes.

Will of

Will of George Crossley of Unlon Co.... my carpenters tools be sold
and the money applyd to discharge my debts should it not be
suffictent; my property remain unsold in my beloved wifes possession
to dispose of to my children as she and my executors may think can
be spared as my children comes of age; my wife to remain on the
plantation as long as she remains a widow; at her death the land sold
and the then surviving heirs to receive allke moiety of the MONEY...
27 June 1793, wife Lydia Crossley, Colo Thomas Brandon, exrs.
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George Crossley (LS), Wit: Thomas Sumar, John Stokes, John

Brandon.

Pp. 18-19: April Intermediate Court 1794, 7th day. Will of William

Hendly proved by Turner Kendrick.

Wwill of William Hendly of Union Co.... to my beloved wife Mary my
whole Estate both real and personal during her widowhood, and then
to my three sons my land to be equally divided according to Quantity
& Quality, allowing my son John Foster Hendly the lower part, also
my son George Hendley the upper part, to my son William Herrod
Hendley, the part that I now live on; also negro girls (named); my
wife Mary jointly with my friends Edward Tilman and William
McCulloch, exrs. 27 Qct 1793. Wm. Hendley {Seal}, Wit: Turner
Kendrick, John Kendrick, Mary McCullock.

of Colo

Pp. 19-22: April Intermediate Court 1794, 7 day, Will

William Farr proved by Capt William Johnson.

Will of William Farr of Union Co.... to my daughter Hannah Green
McElduff, one negro girl Sarah that she has now in her possession,
also one shilling sterling; to my son Richard Farr, negro girl Cheyney
and a negro boy Will; to my step daughter Brown alias Betsey Jeter,
negro woman Henner, negro girl Hager, negro girl Nance, & the
household furniture, and stock belonging to the house where she now
lives; to my son William Black Farr, negro boy Ralph; to my son
James Farr, negro boy Baalam; to my son Thomas Farr, negro boy
Limrick; to my son John Polaskie Farr, negro boy John; to my son
Titus Green Farr, negro boy Wonser; after the decease of my beloved
wife Eliza Tolaferro Farr or her Intermarrriage, all my estate except
my land to be equally divided between my eight children Wm. B.
Farr, jas Farr, Jno P, Farr, Titus G, Farr, Elenor, Thomas Farr, Ann
Kincheloe Farr, and Eliza Frances Farr; land to be divided between
Wm. B. Farr, Jas Farr, Thos Farr, Jno P Farr and Titus G. Farr at
the death of my wife or her intermarriage; the labour of my negroes
to maintain & School my eight children; 31 July 1792, Wm Farr
(Seal), Wit: Wm, Johnson, John Hawkins, Bengamen Hawkins. Richard
Farr, Wm. B, Farr, Thos Striblin Junr.,, exrs, and wife Eliza
Toliaferro Farr.

Pp. 22-24: April Intermediate Court, 1794, 7 day. Will of Charles
Clanton of Union Co., Pinckney District.... 15 Nov 1793. to my
beloved wife, her maintainance during her natural life on the
plantation which she now liveth upon and one feather bed with
furniture; my two sons Sion Clanton and Stephen Clanton, to have
the two Feather Beds which now called theres with their furnlture,



one to each; plantation of 437 acres divided between my two sons
Sion and Stephen Clanton, on Thicketty Creek ... Charles Clanton

(O) (SL), Wit: Wit: Absalom Petty, James Thompson, Millington
Ledbetter.
Pp. 24-25: April Intermediate Court 1794, 7th day. Will of John

Hughey proved by Majr Samuel Otterson,

Ninety Six destrict, Union County. Will of John Huey.. to wmy
loving wife, one third part of my Ian1d and my moveable estate
during her widowhood, at the expiration of her natural life or
widowhood, to be equally divided between my sons Thomas and
Joseph; to my son Thomas, one third part of my lands and one third
part of my estate; to my son Joseph one third part of my land and
moveable estate; to my sons James, john, Samuel, George and Henry,
each ten shillings; to my daughters Martha and Mary, each ten
shillings; to my daughter Hannah, ten shillings; Mary Huey my wife
and Thomas Huey my son, exrs. John Huey (SL}, Wit: Saml Otterson,
Benjamin Gorden.

Pp. 25-28: June Court 1794, 2 day. Will of Francis Drake proved by
James Thompson.

Will of Francis Drake of Union Co., Pinckney District.,. 18 March
1794. to my well beloved wife Joyce Drake, negroe wench called
Dinah, and one girl calied Nan, and a boy by the name of Dembe,
and a girl named Feb & one called Hester, also three Feather Beds
& one bay horse called Bull, cows, etc., and five hundred weight of
tobacco; also she may live on the plantation as long as she pleases;
to my son William Drake, negro man Bob, negro Charles, sorrel mare;
to my loving daughter Martha Flinton, negro wench Cloe & negro
man Quam; to Elias Drake my grandson, 200 acres on Gilkies Creek
formerly called Nathaniel Jefferies; to my grandson Francis Drake,
one black mare and $40; to John Parham grandson & William Wallace
the plantation whereon 1 now live, 350 acres, also 200 acres called
Wilson Jollys adj. said land whereon I now live; to Mathew Hinton
grandson, one bay horse called Dart, two cows & calves, and $10; to
Joseph Hinton grandson, one bay mare called Lub, one feather bed,
etc, and $10; to my granddaughter called Margaret Drake daughter of
Britton Drake, one feather bed and $20; all the remaining part of my
estate to be sold at vendue and the profits to be equally divided
amongst all the above menticned grandchildren; my son Wm Drake
and my brother Richard Drake, exrs. Francis Drake (SL), Wit: James
Thompson, Nathaniel Geffers, William Thompson,
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Pp. 28-29: June Court 1794, 2d day. Will of Samuel Cooper proved
by Jeremiah Cooper.

Will of Samuel Cooper of Union Co., Ninety Six Destrict... to my
wife Elizabeth Cooper, a plantation which we now live on Fairforest
Creek, and a plantation on Tygar River near Cooks Mill, which Is
sold but knowing whether the man will have it nor not but if he take
it she is to have the price thereof, also a waggon and seven head of
horses and cattle, also a plantation at the mouth of Falrforest Creek
which Daniel Melone is living on, she may let David Cooper have the
said plantation to give him 100 acres of the second quallity of land
& a horse saddle and bridle to be valued to £ 7; my wife Elizabeth
Cooper to have the remainder of my Effects, and she is sole
executrix... Samuel Cooper (X) (LS), Wit: Hannah Mulkey (1),
Jeremiah Cogper.

Pp. 29-31: September Intermediate Court, 1794, Ist day. Will of
John Wilson proved by affirmation of Rebecca Millhouse & Henry
Millhouse,

Will of john Wilson of Union Co.... to my beloved wife Denah Wilson,
all my moveable property to hold to her forever provided that she do
pay unto my son Jehu Wilson, £ 5 sterling, and likewlse unto my Five

D:,aigﬂh__tm's_jﬁg,_mry Spray, Phebe Hawkins, Esther Turnas, Sarah
Hawkins, and Hannah Wilson, the sum of Five Shillings to each of

tﬁé‘m’;’ﬁ') my sons Seth Wilson and Christopher Wilson, three tracts of
land in the whole 464 acres adf. to the tract whereon I now live; if
any differences arise, to be settled by four honest men chosen by the
Relegious Meeting of the People called Quakers... 7th day of the
Fifth Month 1794. John Wilson (Seal), Wit: Henry Milhous, Rebekah
Milhous.

Pp. 31-33: September Intermediate Court, 1794, 1st day. Wil of
Thomas Henderson proved by Samuel Hardy,

Will of Thomas Henderson of Unicn Co... I lend to my beloved wife
one negro man named Jinkins, one negro woman Diner, one mare
named Bay Peggy, during her widowhood, if she should marry or die
before her children is Raised, my executors to take the negroes and
best and put them to the best use to the maintaining of her children,
and after her youngest Jincy comes of age or marrys then the above
named are to be sold for cash, and the money to be equally divided
between my children to wit Elizabeth, Dolly, Fanny Word, Clsley &
Nancy Henderson; to my daughter Dolly Henderson, negroe woman
Dise, one feather bed & furniture; to my five youngest children one
shillings sterling each; toc my daughter Elizabeth Henderson, negro




'Pp. 64-66: 14 May 1804, Will of Joseph Gibson of Union District....
to my wife Juda Gibson, all my real and pe::sonal estate after my
just debts are paid... Joseph Gibson (LS), Wit: John Haile, 'Martha
Gibson (X), Sarah Gibson (X). Proved 5 June 1804 by John Haile.

Pp. 66-68: Will of Thomas Palmer of Union District.... to my son
Jeffry Palmer, two negroes James & Harper; to my son Elias Palmer,
one negro Jacob; to my son Daniel Palmer, two negroes Dinah &
Solomon; to my daughter Mary Prewit, one negro James; to my
daughter Francies Prewet, negro woman Winney; to my son William
Palmer, negro Charles; to my daughter Nancy Goodman, two negroes
Mealy & Michael; to my son Elisha Palmer, two negroes Moges &
Jane; my son Daniel Palmer shall have one negro girl Lydia he
paying the appraisement to the estate; my son Jeffrey Palmer, my
best horse, saddle & Bridle; my negro woman Patt shall be sold in
the family and have her choice of her master or mistress, and money
be distributed: to heirs of Elizabeth Calico, $404; to the heirs of
Thomas Palmer Junr., $303; to the heirs of Elijah Palmer (to wit)
Thomas and Archibald Palmer, $300 to be equally divided; my son
Daniel Palmer and friend John Blasingame, exrs., 24 Oct 1800,

Thomas Palmer (X) (LS}, Wit: Elias Pruett, James Bogan {X), Elisha

Bond, John Martin, Proved by Elisha Bond & Elias Prewet, 16 July

1804.

Pp. 68-70: Will of Joyce Drake of Union District, 1 June 1804... to
my daughter Mary Abbot, negro girl Jenny; to my daughter Sara.
Clark, negro wench Ninah; to my son Acquilla Cavenah, negro boy
Dembo, negro girl Easter, one horse and stock of cattle; to my son
William Cavenah, one negro boy Charles; to my sons David and
Charles Cavenah, household furniture to be equally divided; my son
Aquilla Cavenah and Robert Steen exrs. Joyce Drake (X) (LS), Wit;
Joseph Smith, James Steen. Proved by James Steen & Joseph Smith,

c -

Pp. 70-71: Wili of Robert Whitlock of Union District... to my wife
Agness Whitlock, for the time of her life, all my goods & chattels,
and after her death to my son Robert, my house and land upon his
discharging a debt due from me to Alexander MacBeth; to my
daughter Patsey, one cow & calf; rest of my goo_ds and chattels to
be equally divided amongst my children; my wife Extx, and son
Robert, exr., 31 Dec 1801, Robert Whitlock (LS), Wit: Christopher
Brandon, Robert Bevil, Eliz'a Bevil (X). Proved 19 Nov 1804 by
Christopher Brandon and Robert Bevil.
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Pp. 71-72: August 7, 1804, will of Jedethan Porter of Union
District.... to my three oldest chiidren Avis, Nancy and Edward, to
the amount of $60; all the rest of my children should have to the
same amount when they come of age if circumstances will admit; my
son Elisha should have for his part a certain horse colt and my
saddle; my son Asa & John & Lotty & my daughter QOlivia{?) and my
son Jedethan & Hancock & Russell including the one my wife is now
with; wife Rhoda, Hancock Porter, John Palmer James Turner, exrs,
Jedethan Porter (X} (LS}, Wit: John Wallace, John Vanlew, James
Bell, Proved 19 Nov 1804 by John Wallace.

Pp. 72-74: Will of Roderick Wright of Union District... all land
whereon | now live to be sold at the discretion of my executors, the
money arising to be divided between my wife and my children living
at the time of said division, the residue of my estate to my wife
during her life or widowhcood; my wife Catherine and fames C. Veal
ang William Hawkins, exrs., 16 Aug 1803. Roderick Wright (L8), Wit
Jos T—Iugﬁes, Wi Johmson, Sarah Hughes (X). Proved 19 Nov 1804 by

Joseph Hughes.

Pp. 74-75: Will of William Whitlock of Union District... to my wife
Molly, the tract I now live on 171 acres, negro fellow Natt, wench
Nell, household furniture, etc; to my son John, one dollar; to my
daughter Nancy, one dollar; to my daughter Betsey, cone dollar; to my
daughter Molly, negro wench Jane, and after the deceased of my
wife Molly to my daughter Molly negre wench Neli; after the death
of my daughter Molly, all the above mentioned with their increase to
be given to her three first children Willlam, Nancy & Betsey; after
the death of my wife Molly, the tract whereon I now live to my
daughter Sally, also a negro girl Sarah; my wife Molly, sole extx., 26
Nov 1804. Wm Whitlock (LS), Wit: Robrt Bevil, Saul Mise (X}, James
Whitlock (X). Proved by Robert Bevil and James Whitlock, 23 May
1805.

Pp. 76-77: Will of Samuel Patton of Union District... to my wife
Mary Patton, the residue of my personal estate during her life, but
at her death the plantation whereon I now live to be rented for the
support of my daughter Jane Patton during her life, and after the
decease of my wife and daughter Jane Patton, the land be sold &
divided into five shares: 1/5 to my son William Patton, 1/5 to my
son in law James Mayes, 2/5 to my daughter Martha Patton; my wife
Mary Patton and friend Hugh Means, exr., 8 Aug 1804, Samuel Patton
(LS), Wit: Samuel Archjbald, Ralph Jackson. Proved by Samuel
Archibald, 31 May 1805.

o




and $300; to my daughter Anna Coleman, one bed and
?3:11:1':'2, cgixi cow and' calf and $300 when she becomes of age or
marries; to my daughter Susanna Coleman, one bed and furniture, cne
cow and calf and $300 when she becomes of age or marries; to my
daughter Permeale Coleman, one bed and furniture, one cow and calf
and $300 when she becomes of age or marries; to my daugher Sytha
Coleman, one bed and furniture, one CoOw and calf and $300 when she
becomes of age or marrles; remainder to my v‘vlfe Sytha Coleman
during her life for the support of her and the children and after her
death to be equally divided, __ 1806. (no signature or witnesses)
Proved by William Hobson, 30 Aug 1806.

Pp. 108-110: Will of Robert Cook of Union District.... my crop of
cotton now on hand be taken to market and sold; my yoke of oxen
be sold also; to my daughter Adilsey Cook, one young mare;, to my
wife Elizabeth Cook, negro girl Suke during her natural life and after
her death to my daughter Ailsey Cook; to my beloved wife Elizabeth
Cook, all the residue of my estate, for the support of her and my
chi\d;en and their education, after her death to be sold and the
money divided between my two SOns John Cook and Silas Cook;
Joseph Coleman and Willlam Hobson, exrs., 18 May 1806. Robt Cook
(Seal), Wit: Christopher Degrafenried, Elizabeth Bates (+), Mary Mills
(X). Proved by Christopher Degraffenried, 1 Sept 1806.

-112: Il of Reuben Belew of Union District... to my wife
Ei[;ryl lgellel\i, \:lil that plantation of 150 acres whereon I now live so
long as she shall remain my widow; to my son Thomas, brown colt
which he claims; to my son John, the first colt that my brown mare
brings; my said sons Thomas and John to have their horses at the
age of nineteen; to each of my other sons one horse, as they shall
each arrive to the age of nineteen years; to each of my daughters
that are now single, a share of the money from sale of estate; wife
and friend W. Palmer, exrs., 4 Oct 1806. Reuben Belue (Seal), Wit:
Daniel Holland, Aaron Springer, Renny Belue (X). Proved by Aron
Springer, and Mary Belue and Wm Palmer qualified as exrs,, 8 Oct

1806.

Pp. 113-114: Will of Hawkins of Pinckney District.... to my
affectionate mother and brothers all iy estaté both Teal and personal
namely lsaac, John, Benjamin, Nathan & Amos Hawkins, and my
prother jamés Hawkins his three children T desire_Ruth, Dingh_and
John Hawmao thelr three shares an equal part with one

dfﬁf'ﬁ?ﬁe)r;; my_sister Martha Cook may have an equal share with

) hers lohp and

brothers in money or property; to my two brot -
Er{loerawkins, all my land on Tyger River, one tract I bought of
Samuel Beeks, and one third of 100 acres left me by my father; my

()

brothers John Hawkins and Nathan Hawkins, exrs., 14 day of third
month 1804, Willlam_Hawkins (LS), Wit: Seth ~ Wilson, Joshua
Kenworthy, Susanah Carlilee Proved by Joshua Kenworthy and
Susanna Carlile, 15 Nov 1806.

Pp. 115-117: Will of Margaret Adams of Union District.... my
daughter Mary Glass, my son John Adams, my daughter Martha
Woolbright and my son William Adams, to have five shillings, and to
my daughter Anne Martin, my bed and furniture whereon I commonly
lye; to my daughter Margaret Adams, me negro wench Vilet; to my
son James Adams, my bed and {urniture whereon he commonly sleeps,
and household furniture and stock of hoggs; my brother in law
Francis Adams, my son James Adams and daughter Margaret Adams,
exrs., 19 Aug 1803, Margaret Adams (X} (Seal), Wit: Ralph Rogers,
James Adams, Henry Good. Proved by Henry Good, 8 Dec 1806,

Pp. 117-119: Will of John F. Henly of Union District.... all my land
and negros (named) and half the value of negro child Veanes to my
beloved wife and my children Polley, Pamela, Betsy and the one my
beloved wife is now pregnant with; my wife to keep possession until
my oldest child comes of age; my wife Lucy Henley and friend Capt.
Edward Tilman, exrs., 21 Aug 1806. John F. Hendley (LD), Wit
Joseph Gist, E. N, Davis, Silas Bell., Proved by Joseph Gist Esqr., 5
Jan 1807,

Pp. 119-121: Will of Charles Hames Senr of Union District... to my
wife Chatharine Hames, during her life or widowhood, all my estaet
both real and personal, and at her death or marriage: to my son
Willlam Hames, negrec man Dick; to my son Charles negro woman
Fann and negro girl Anny; to my son )ohn, negro girl Vilet; to my
son Thomas, negro boy Joel; to my son Edmond Hames, negro woman
Phillis with two children Milley and Sal and one other named Hannah
and tract 1 now live on adjoining formally surveyd by Nicholass
Jasper and by him conveyed to John Kizer and from said Kizer to
my self; to my son in law )James McWhorter, 50 acres adj. his said
land where he now lives taken off from a tract I conveyed to Robt
Galt; the rest of my property divided among my four daughters that
is now living; my two sons Thomas & Edward Hames, exrs., 26 May
1802. Charles Hames (LD), Wit: John Beckham, Baxter Moseley, John
Reid (I}, Proved by Baxter Mosely, 19 Jan 1807,

Pp. 122-123: Will of Robert Tindle of Union County... to my son
Robert Tindle, Hannah Fowler and Acey Tindle, five shillings each;
my daughter Mary Fowler, five shillings; my daughter Rachel Tindle,

$152 in money; to my daughter Sarah one bay mare; all household

furniture to be equally divided between my two daughters Rachel and

(23




Pp. 137-139: Will of Ellis Fowler Senior of Union District.... to my
wife Mary Fowler, one third of tract whereon 1 now live for her use
during her life or widowhood, and at her death or marriage to my
two sons Wm & Womac Fowler, to be equally divided between them,
stock, household furniture, et¢; to my son in law Baxter Mosely,
tract where Tho Haney now lives; to my two sons Wm Fowler and
Womac Fowler, tract where I now live; to my son Ellis Fowler, tract
where he now lives; to my son Mark Fowler, 100 acres around him
where he now lives; the personal part of the estate which belongs to
me and in the hands of Tho Haney, toc my sons Ephm Fowler, jno
Fowler, Godfrey Fowler, and Nancy Rogers; Geo Phillips, Wm.
Fowlers, exrs., 20 Jan 1808, Ellis Fowler (X) (LS), Wit: Thos Hancock,
Daniel White, Richard Humphries. Proved by Daniel White and
Richard Humphries, 22 Feb 1808,

Pp. 139-140: Will of Lewis Bobo of Union District.... to my wife
Sarah, all my estate real and personal during her life or widowhood;
at her death to be sold and moneys be equally divided amongst my
children Elizabeth Skelton, Sampson Bobo, Solomon Bobo, Salley
Norman, Pattey Smith, Jeany Ray, Polley Rhoades, Abigail Cooper,
Nancy Ray, Kindred Bobo and Darcey [Dicey] Holcomb; my wife
Sarah, Solomon Boboc and Kindred Bobo, exrs., 14 June 1805. Lewis
Bobo (Seal), Wit: Simpson Bobo (S), Andw Torrence, George Gordon,
signed as witness 10 May 1806, Proved by George Gordon, 7 Mar

1808.

Pp. 140-142: Will of judith Reid of Union District.... to my daughter
Sally Reid, one horse colt lately purchased of Foster, five new
sheets, two new pillars, etc; to my son Jethro Reld, five new sheets,
two new pillars, ail the new tools purchased since the appraisement
of John Reids Estate; to be equally divided between my two children
Sally Reid and Jethero Reid, fifty nine head of hoggs, lambs, crop
made In the present year, except 1/7 part to the overseer; 24 Apr
1806. Judith Reid (X}, Wit: Isaac J. Foster, Willlam Crittenden,
Proved by Isaac ]J. Foster, 5 Dec 1808.

Pp. 142-144: Will of Robert Harris of Union District.... to my wife
Prudence, one chest, one trunk, large pot, etc; my son Moses shall
have 100 acres of my land on which I now live on Harris Creek and
Mill Creek adj. Eisons land; my son Ephraim shall have 100 acres of
land adj. aforesaid land to Moses; to my daughter Susannah, one cow
now in her possession; amount arising from sale of my lands and
moveables be divided amongst my four children Robert Anderson,
Saml Harris, John Starling and Susannah and grandchildren Washington
Harris, Hugh M. Harris, Hugh Donaldson & Sidney Donalson in such a
manner that my own children have double as much as my
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grandchildren; Ephraim Harris & Richd Thomson, exrs,, 1 Apr 1807.
Robert Harris (LS), Wit: Daniel Gray, John McDowell, William
Thomson. Proved by John McDaweth-2-Aug 1809.

Pp. 145-146: Will of Spencer Morgan of Union District... to my
daughter Ann McMorris, $500, two young cows and calves, a large
steer; to my daughter Fanny McMorris, two young cows & Calves,
large steer; to my brother Benjamin Morgan, my young sorrel horse;
my wife Frankey Morgan, one fifth part of my estate real and
personal; the remainder of my estate of land, goods and chattels
after paying the above legacles to be dlvided among my four children
(by my wife Frankey Morgan) Elizabeth Taylor Affey Bullock and
Frankey Susanna each to have their respective parts when they come
of age or marry; and my son James Knuckolds to have his part when
he arrives to the age of 21 years; my brother Benjamin Morgan and
brother in law Elijah Dawkins, exrs,, 5 July 1809. Spencer Morgan

(LS), Wit: Nancy Dawkins, Elizabeth Morgan, John Moorhead. Proved
by John Moorhead, 7 Aug 1809,
Page 147: Will of Hiram Haney of Union District.... my wife Mary

Haney and William Spears, exrs; to my wife Mary Haney, tract of
land 1 purchased of Harbird Archer on waters of Pacolett River in
Union District, 80 acres, and the plantation whereon [ now live,
during her widowhood to school! and raise my children, and at her
decease or marriage the children to have equal shares or lots as they
severally come of age; 12 Oct 1808. Hiram Haney (X) (LS), Wit

Zarobabel Petty (X), William Haney (X), Eliz Haney (X). Proved by
Zorobabe! Petty, 4 Sept 1809,
Page 148: Will of Henry Travilla of Union District... to John

Sinclear, $100 and to Susannah Powell, $50; to Elizabeth Mitchell
wife of John Mitchell, $10; for the support of the Quaker
meetinghouse cain creek, $10; for the support of the Methodist
meetinghouse called Gregorys, $10; remainder to be divided equally
between Jacob Powells sons and daughters and also to James Powell,
five shillings; to Henry Knobles, Five shillings; Isaac Hockins, John
Hockins [Hawkins], exrs,, 7 Oct 1803. Henry Travilla al), Wit:
Robt Bevill, Trowe vill, Eliz'a Bevill, Proved by Robert Bevill, 16
Sept 1809, -

Pp. 149-150;: Will of John Blasingame of Union District,... to Rachel
Blasingame, my wife, all my estate both real and personal during her
life or widowhood, and after her death to be sold and divided equally
between her heirs that s tc say my sons and daughters Phillip and
John Blasingame, Phebe Ham, Searh Bearden, Elizabeth Blasingame;
my friend Elias High and wife Rachel Blasingame, exrs,, 30 Aug 1809.




... his living or property to be applied to the use of his wife
%-‘?-zlaﬁkey Lee an% his daughter Mary Lee; his wearing apparel to his
brother Thomas Lee; Thomas Lee and Elisha Hunt, exrs,, 7 Aug 1812,
Wit: Thomas Lee, Elisha Hunt, Sarah Lee. Proved by Elisha Hunt

and Sarah Lee, 11 Aug 1812,

Pp. 192-194: Will of John Savage Senr of Union District... to my
wife Sarah, such a part of my real and personal estate as she may
be intitled to by law in case that no will existed; to my son William,
tract on which 1 now live, 371 acres with negro woman Jeen and her
child; to my son Joshua, tract on which he now lvies, cow and calf,
named girl Doll and the child; to my son John, 200 acres on
Trevillers Creek; to my daugher Ann, negro girl Nance; remainder
divided between my daughters Ann, Sarah and Rebecca; all household
furniture to be equally divided between my son William, John and
Joshua, and Ann and Sarah and Rebecca my three daughters; my wife
Sarah and James Savage Junior, exrs., 3 Aug 1812, John Savage {LS),
Wit: Jos Hughes, Robert Savage, Wm Kemnedy. Proved by all three

witnesses, 11 Aug 1812,

Pp. 195-196: Will of Zachariah Bevis of Union District.... to my
spouse Phebe Bevis, whole of my estate real and personal during her
life or widowhood, and she may have the sole management of my
children; my negro Lucy is a disobedient servant, my wife may
exchange her for one whose character may be more congenial; at the
death or marriage of my wife, should my children not be of age, my
executor to be the whole of my estate for them: Polly, Weldon
Bevis, Willlam Bevis & Elizabeth Bevis; my son William to be bound
to some trade after he gets education sufficient to transact his own
business; Isaac McKissic, with my wife, exrs., 24 Apr 1810. Z. Bevis
(LS), Wit: W. Henderson, G. N. Faucett, Jas. Lam, Proved by W.

Henderson, 7 Sept 1812,

Pp. 197-198: Will of William Lawrence of Union District,.. to
Samuel Hase, my son in law, whom 1 likewise make executor, all my
whole estate; 19 Sept 1812. William Lawrence (X) (Seal), Wit
Elizabeth Hase (X), John Smith (X), Joseph Smith, Proved by John

Smith, 13 Dec 1812.

Pp. 199-201: Wil of lsaac Hollingsworth Senr of Union District.... to
my daughter Mary wife of Danie! Hollingsworth $20; to my son Isaac
Hollingsworth, full possession of a tract whereon my Brother Joseph
Hollingsworth formerly lived and jolnng my tract, 100 acres, also one
other tract purcahsed of Isaac Hawkins originally granted to Benjamin
Hawkins, 100 acres, als5one half of my mill tract with hatf of the
grist mill, saw mill, cotton ginn and still in Union District; to my

son Enoch Hollingsworth, tract whereon I now live with one other
tract of 45 acres adj., same originally granted to Daniel
Hollingsworth, and the other half of the mill; to my daughter Ann
Hollingsworth, one feather bed and furniture to the worth of $100
and $200 to be raised out of my estate; to my daughter Martha
Hollingsworth, one feather bed and furniture worth $100 and $200 to
be raised out of my estate; wife Ann to enjoy my personal estate
and plantation where I now live during her widowhood; Isaac & Enoch
Hollingsworth, exrs., 29 May 1812, Wit: Jarrot Walker, Wm Orril
Brock, Samuel Gordon, Proved by Wm Orril Brock and Samuel
Gordon, {5 Jan 1813.

Pp. 201-202: Will of Charles Spiva of Union District... to my
daughter Elizabeth, to my daughter Temperance, to my daughter
Nancy, each one bed and furniture; to my son George, all the rest of
my property; to my wife Unity, her life time and at her deceased
my tract of land, to my son Edward A, Spiva; all the rest, to be
equally divided among my four girls and one boy Elizabeth, Mary,
Nany, Temperance and George, 30 Nov 1812, Charles Spiva, Wit
Philip Whitten, John Flinn, Elizabeth Malone. Proved by Philip
Whitten, 15 Feb 1813. -

Pp. 203-205: Will of Hugh Donaldson of Union Districti.. to my
grandsons Robert & Hugh Hermin, 50 acres on the north side of lick
branch, a branch of McElwaynes Creek; to my son James Donaldson,
one half of the balance of my land; the housing and what cleared
ground is now in cultivation be secured to my wife and my daughter
Margaret Donaldson for their support during the life of my wife and
at her disposal at her death; my daughter Margaret Donaldson, one
horse creature, her choice among my stock at my deceased, etc; my
children and my son Robert Donaldson to share equally in the profits
of my land; remainder to my wife; 27 Nov 1812, Hugh Donaldson (X)
(Seal), Wit: Samuel Archibald, John Blasingame, James Anderson.
Proved by Samuel Archibald, 8 Mar 1813.

Pp. 205-207: Will of Peter Hudspeth of Union District, planter... to
my only daughter Mary Bullard, all my household estate after the
death of my wife Charity Hudspeth; to my grandson James Bullard,
tract whereon I now live, 100 acres at the death of his grandmother;
26 Aug 1808, Peter Hudspeth {X) (LS}, Wit: Presley Williams, David
Harris (0), Samuel Harris, Proved by David and Samuel Harris, 5
Apr 1813,

Pp. 207-209: Will of Samuel Littlejohn of Union District... to my

wife Sarah Littlejohn, the use of the whole of my estate during her
widowhood; at her death or marriage to my daughter Polly Littlejohn,
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etc; if my daughter Polly shall die
one feather bec:;t a!l‘:l rfug:it'g]r,e, . élve my daughter Polly shall die
without' oy negroes shall have the privilege of choosing their
e of {stress among my children; my sons Henry Littlejohn and
Faels oq T ohn, exrs., 20 Mar 1813. Samuel Littlejohn (X) (Seal),
Evrl!:ncflsar:l‘e:t ?.jaura:nce, l:lenry Littlejohn, Ignatius Littlejohn, Proved

by all three witnesses, 5 July 1813,

] ary Whitlock of Union Districte.. to my
Pp. 210_2,\111;1CWi1§‘laug£t::1 m))(r riding chalr; to my daughter Besy Long,
deughter Na ;¥1y daughter Polly Bently, $1,50; to my daughter Sally
one caw.solioto William Long, son of Polly Bentley, half my stock of
Ray, $11- % o tools, etc; to Nancy Long, daughter of Polly Bently,
hogs, P anha iy st (;C x of hogs; my granddaughter Sally Bentley, one
one cow;} da and furniture; mare Roan shall be sold and money put t(?
feather entill Polly Faucett Bentley is of age and then given to her;
im:eresct1 l]‘: scett and Capt. William Long, exrs., 26 Apr 1813. Mary
Richar k E(IX) (Seal), Wit: Christopher Brandon, Hartwell Vaughan,
Y\Ivzrl\tcl)?c\faughan. Proved by Hartwell Vaughan, 5 Jul 1813.

. irdsong of Union District.... to my niece
Pp. 212-213: d’wgio%f S,T-tfel? extragrdinary care trouble and sttention
Sally Howar] .t sickness; remainder of my estate to my natural son
during 1'113:'t :e to him and 1 do recommmend to him that he take the
John Roun rures to assume the name of Birdsong as the only means
proper mea:tin my name, 22 Aug 1813, B, Birdsong (LS), Wit: S,
girigﬁl;lpgetuTho%nas Haile, David Johnson, Proved by Syasmond

]

Stribling and Thomas Haile, 6 Sept 1813,

. Linam of Union District, 5 June 1813...
op 213‘21’:‘5- g‘ie:rllczi El;r?;::,s one brown mare & Sorrel colt, all my
o ot ettle sheep, etc., balance of my household and kitchen
SO e c"lia?.nta'tion tools, also a note of hand on Jeremiah Smith for
B ans of brandy, dated 1 Jan 1812, with $50 from Thomas
120 ga.llons ife Franc’es Linam, extx., and friend Elijah Teague, exr,
L(.Iilrll:rr{lés T.{n:n (LS), Wit: Saml Otterson, Js. Dugan. Proved by james

Pugan, 20 Oct 1813,

. niel Lovell of Union County.. to my
Pp. '215-2;:'; p‘g;lm:nf (512 feather bed and furniture that is now at
daughter / house: to my son John Lovell, all my wearing clothes and
John Puet's buckles: to my son Daniel Lovell, one brass skillet; to my
silver shoe e Coo’per one feather bed, lron pot, dutch oven, pewter
daughter daﬂ ware; t’o my daughter Emblem Puet, one third of
and eart gnland on one equal part of what may belong to me after
dCut;r::er:ﬁ:t is the third of what the Cumberland land sells for; my

€DLs,
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Jand in Cumberland and my land in Union County, be sold, and
equally divided among my children except Jane Cooper; that is the
six part to be lent to her untill her son Hiram Cooper comes of age,
then to be his, that John Cooper shall have no business or concern in
anything that belongs to me; to my daughter Elizabeth Hopkins, one
shilling sterling; my son Samuel Moore Lovell and my son in law John
Puet, my exrs.,, 2 June 180l. Danl Lovell (Seal), Wit: Joseph King,

William Hawki Proved by Joseph King, 8 Nov 1813,

Pp. 217-218: Will of Robert Gregory of Union District... to my son
Willilam, one negro boy Luke; to my wife Maryann, all the rest of my
estate, during her natural life or wldowhood for the support &
maintenance of my children; my land to be equally divided between
my two sons William & Isaac Gregory after the death of their
mother; to my two sons William & Isaac & to my three daughters
Elizabeth, Lettice & Mariann Gregory, on their marriages a
proportional part with those already married; to my daughters Sarah
Humphries, Catey Anderson, Elizabeth, Lettlce & Mariann Gregory, sll
the rest of my estate, 9 Sept 1813. Robert Gregory (X) (Seal), Wit:
John Sanders, Joshua Greer, Tho Hart.

Pp. 219-221: Will of George Harlan of Unlon District... to my wife,
one horse ans saddle valued to $100; my wife Anna Harlan, shall have
one negro girl Annie during her natural life provided she continues in
this district, and the negro shall not be carried out of the district
except good security for the negro to be returned and to be given up
to my executors at the death of my wife; my wife shall have my
plantation whereon I now live, three negroes (named), cattle, etc,
until my son arrives to the age of 21, for herself and to support my
son Joseph Harlan; profits to raised my youngest daughter and
grandson Felix Johnson in a decent manner; to my daughter Elizabeth
Murrell, $195, to be paid until my daughter Anna arives to the age
of 21; to my son Iin law John D, Johnson, one dollar; to my daughter
Mary Mayhew, one dollar; to my daughter Phebe Craven(?), 123 acres
on fairforest adj. Widow Woodsons place, Aaron Harlan and the estate
of Sampson Goodman, being the land I bought of Henry Blrdsong; to
my son Joseph Harlan, tract I now live on, 194 acres adj. Thos
Blasingame, John Parham, Elizabeth Wallace, Mr, Mayhew; [not
signed, not witnessedl, Recorded lst January 1814,

Pp. 222-223: Will of Jeremiah Hamllton of Unjon District.... to my
loving wife, negro girl Henrletta, one feather bed, cows & Calves; to
my daughters the residue of my negroes, to be divided equally among
them; to my son Hampton, my young filly, bed & furniture; to my
daughter R. Legg, one feather bed & Furniture, cow & Calf; Capt,
Bernard Glenn, and George D. Phillips, and my wife, exrs. Jeremiah




Hamilton. [no witnesses] Recorded 28 Feb 1814,
-224: Nathaniel Cobb [apparently beginning of will
Pp;. 1312? 2 n:;irl(l} O\vfroman Easter, to him after the decease or
m sslgé“of his mother Betty Cobb; my five daughters and one that
marr E;%e is now blg with shall have an equal part of my land Mary
I'(I:‘.lobl;’.r Sarah Cobb, Fanny Cobb, Nancy Cobb & Betty Cobb, and the
ne ,et unborn; my wife Betty Cobb & Thos Gordon & Samuel
(())tter)s(.on exrs., 12 Dec 1782. Nathaniel Cobb (X). Wit: Benjamin
Darby, F:hilip A,nderson, Francis Hockins (X). Recorded 2 May 1814,

. lates
. Wijll of Sarah Peterson, July 7th 181l... pewter p y
};fs%isfsd basons, the money to be put to the use of the Baptist
Church called Unlon; Thompson Browning and Amos Lamb, exrs
Sarah Peterson (X), Wit: John Putman, Samuel Hays, (X). Recorded

13 June 1814,

-226: of James Lindsey of Union District.... to my wife
ll;.ll)i.zazlf:tt'nmg‘lngg)lr, nejgro man Knock and tract whereon I now live,
200 acres, her choice of cattle, etc; to my grand daughter Jenet
Scott Martin, the bed whereon 1 now lie with furniture, trunk, riding
mare, also a young heifer; to my daughter Ann Norman, negro woman
Bess-' Phillis be appraised and that John Norman or my daughter
Elizz;beth should take her; my daughter Mary Dehay, have one dollar;
to my daughter Jane Dehay, one dollar; to my daughter Sarah Dehay,
one dollar; remainder equally divided between my grand children

ept Jenet Scott Martin; daughter Elizabeth Lindsey, extx., Robert
;,l‘:rt[;n my grandson exr., 7 Oct 1813; Jain Lindsey (X) (LS), Wit: Wm
Wright, Archillis Banker, Robert MecCollough,

-228: of Richard Drake of Union District... to my son
l;ep;szzf{azrzvaéy wDiEake, negro boy Bob & one feather bed; to my son
Willlam Drake, one feather bed & furniture; to the children of my
deceased son Micajah Drake, all my lands on the west side of
fairforest being the plantation whereon the sald Mecajah Drake
formerly lived; to my daughter Rebecca Landrum as an advancement
on her marriage, a negro girl Edy; remainder of my real and personal
estate, between my five living children Rebecca Landrum, Polly
Rount;‘ee, Lucy Benson, William Drake & Jesse Harvey Drake; ]James
K. Benson, Willlam Rountree my sons in law & my son Willlam
Drake, exrs., 11 June 1808. Richd Drake (LS), Wit: David Johnson, B.
Birdso,ng, J. B. Kennedy, Proven and recorded 27 June 1814,

_230: Will of Moses Harris of Union District.... one third of
o 2:3&2: Oto my wife Catharine and the whole of my estate until
Q; youngest child Susan shall come to the age of 18 or shall be

married at which time, the two thirds of my land be sold and
amount equally divided between my three children Robert G, Harrls,
William F. Harris & Susan T. Harrls; to my wife Catharine, negroes
{(named); to my step daughter Isabella Miller, the first child if any of
the issue of Hetty; 26 June 1814, Moses Harrls (Seal), Wit: Hugh
McBride, Isaac McBride, Richd Thomson., Proved & recorded 23 July
1814.

Pp. 230-232: Will of Reuben S. Saunders of Union District.... to my
wife Martha Saunders, as her own right and property six negroes
(named), furniture, except a good feather bed and furniture to each
of my three children when they arrive to the age of 21 years; to my
son Robert W, Saunders, my silver watch & rifle gun, at the death of
my wife Martha; to my daughter Charlotte Caroline Saunders, one
good horse, bridle & saddle; to my daughter Chloe Maria Saunders,
one good horse, bridle & Saddle; belance of negroes (named} be
divided among my children; friends John Parham, Jas K. Benson, with
my wife Martha Saunders, exrs,, 13 June 1814, R, S. Saunders (LS),
Wit: John Parhan, Hancock Smith, Wm., Dendy. Proved and recorded
2 Sept 1814.

Page 232: Will of Drusilla Lee widow of Union District... to my
helpless child Polly Lee, my feather bed and furniture, all my real
estate of one tract I bought of Gilliam Willbanks, 172 acres, on a
branch of Penchmans Creek, waters of Enoree River where 1 now
live; to my son Thomas Lee and Catron Roberts and Michael Lee and
Robert Lee and Merian Kershaw, five shillings each; to my son
Joseph Lee and my two daughters Delilah and Drusilla Lee, the
remainder of my personal property; friends Mark Murphey and Bird
Murphey, sons Michael and Robert Lee, exrs., 3 May 1814, Drusllla
Lee (LS), Wit: Sampson Gilliam, Elizabeth Dennan {(X), Jerry Greer
(X). Proved and recorded 5 Sept 1814,

Page 233: Will of Enoch Hollingsworth of Union District.... to my
sister Mary Hollingsworth, $10; to my sister Annie Hollingsworth, $50
in good money; to my sister Martha Hollingsworth, $50 in money;
remainder of property to my brother Isaac Hollingsworth, exr., 23 Apr
1814. Enoch Hollingworth (X) (Seal), Wit: Wm Orrel Brock, George
Brock, Joseph Brock. Proven and Recorded 5 Sept 1814,

Pp. 233-235: Will of Catharine Young widow woman of Union
District.... to my daughter Elizabeth Young, to my son George
Young, to my daughter Mary Ann Gregory, to my daughter Lettis
Gregory, to my son Thomas Young, to my daughter Jane Steen, to
my daughter Eleanor Cunningham, all that they already have received
of me; to my son Christopher Young, one negro boy Dave, bay mare

- 89 -
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Joshua Petty (Seal), Wit: Thomas Hancocke, James Lawrence,
Clabourn Lawrence. Proved and recorded 8 Feb 1316,

Pp. 15-16: Will of Dorcas Faris of Union District.... all land that [
own, title be made and price be equally divided between my son
James Faris and my son in laws Henry Foster, James Martin and
J?Seph Kelso; my negro Sam be sold only that he have the privelige
g choosing his master, and the amount of his sale be equally divided
etween the aforesaid; my negro woman Tenah be the right of my
son in law Edward Mayes; to my son in law Willlam Jackson, negro
girl Cate, and he to pay one-half to my son in law Samue! Kelso
Junr; my daughters Sarah Foster, Margaret Martin, Isabella Kelso,

Rachel Mayes, Dorcas Jackson and Elizab
eth Kelso; my son In laws
(Jé);n; Martin & Edward Mayes, exrs., 4 Jan 1816. Dorcas Faris {X)
al), Wit: H, Means, Jesse Carson, James K., Means., Proved and

recorded 4 March 1816,

Pp, 16-17: Will of Benjamin Hollingsworth Senr.... to my son Aquilia
E;;l;ns?rth, to my son Benjamin Hollinsworth Junr, to ymy da::ghter
Rh ¢ Hogans, to my son Absolam Hollingsworth, to my daughter

oda Morris, one shiliing each; the balance of my estate to go to
gg‘dwédow Phebe Hollingsworth, except one fourth to be equally

lded among my three youngest children Plerce, Milley and Mary
Hollingsworth; my mother Dinah Hollingsworth to be support as long
as she continues with the family; Spilsby Glenn, Nathan Sims and my
wife Phebe, exrs., 14 Feb 1816, Benjamin Hollingsworth (B) {LS), Wit:
Proved and

John Smith, Jarrot Walker, Jacob Holli
recorded 4 f\darch 1816. > Jaco oltingsworth (X).

Pp. 17-18: Will of Farr Posey. all my property be kept together
[ L1 D
raise my children while my widow rem:ir?s Enme{rried, sla)nd sgould slﬁe
marrj./, all estate to be sold and proceeds be divided into thre equal
ga!‘tt‘;,l one part to be my wifes Sarah Posey, the other two parts
Squa y divided among all my surviving children; Benjamin Hawkins
ot Spllsby Glean, Nathan Sims, exrs., 8 Feb 1816. Farr Fosey Wit:
njn  Hollingsworth, John Smith, Pierce Hollinsworth. Proved and

recorded 4 March 1816,

e s

Page 18: Will of Abraham Guyton.. to my wife Patsey, all my land '

and negroes, cattle, etc., to dis '
pose of as she shall think best among

ll:llchl:)ﬂdren; my brother Joseph Guyton and Alexander Martin, exrs,,
eb 1816. Abraham Guyton {LS), Wit: Joseph Smith, Aaron Parker,

Daniel Smith, Proved and recorded 4 March 1816,

Pp. 19-20: Will of William Cotter of Un
ion District.... to my wife
Catherine Cotter, the plantation where she now resides during her

S
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widowhood, if she should marry, then she receives a childs Part; lt

my son Jno B, Cotter, 100 acres on NE of my lands, OPPOSit
William Scission; the rest of my land to be divided among the othe
four of my children Aan Cotter, Polly Cotter, William H, Cotter
Edward Cotter; my friends Willlam Moorehead Senr & William Adatrg
and wife Catharine Cotter, exrs,, 24 jan 1816, William Cottef (LS.
Wit: Leo B, Murray, Wm. Sisson, Robert Moorehead. Proved an

recorded 20 March 1816.

Page 20: Will of Jacob Hollingsworth Snr... my sons Danltf
Abraham & Amos Hollingsworth are left one shilling each; Hanni
Ashford, my daughter one shilling; and Martha McCarson 11 ‘;‘
shilings sterling; Jacob Hollingsworth Junr, one blaze mare, tWO h‘
and furniture; my granddaughter Nelly Smith shall enjoy a feath
bed and furniture, tract of land of 75 acres on the rocky mountal
and another tract of 100 acres; 21 Feb 1816; Jacob Hollingswor
Junr,, John Morgan, exrs., Jacob Hollingsworth Sar (X] (LSL w
David Henderson, Joseph Brock, Samuel! Gordon. Proved & record

20 Mar 1816,

Pp. 20-21: Will of James Caldwell of Union District... to WY ¥
Sarah Caldwell, tract where [ now live, one bed and furnitu
remainder for my son Jjohn George Caldwell, and my son AJeXamn
Caldwell; my son John George Caldwell, Eli Gordon & John ROdEE
my exrs,, | July 1815, James Caldwell (LS), Wit: james ROU8

John Rodgers. Proved & recorded 6 May 1816,

Pp. 21-22; Will of Thomas Hames Snr of Union District... ©
wife Susanna Hames, all my estate real and personal; ™Y
Garaway Hames, all the land 1 now possess between the PO
branch and to Pages Spring branch and to the river, and buil Ing
lands now held by Pleasant Sneed; to my son Garaway, neg’®
Sarah; residue of my property to be divided between my €
daughters Nancy, Molly, Rebecca, Sally, Suckey, Cynthia, Mebiss:
Patsey Hames; my brothers Charles & Edmund Hames, exrs.,
1813, Thomas Hames (LS), Wit: Mark Hames, Israel Fowler,
Mabry. Proved and recorded 6 May 1816.

Pp. 22-23: Will of Susanna Lyles of Union District... to my gf a8
jesse Potts, roan colt, cow, plates, etc; and one note for $10

by William Gibson; my grandson John Potts, colt, pewters, ©C2
etc; all the cotton but what my daughter Susanna wants for spi
use; to my daughter Susanna Lyles, one half of corn, furniture
my daughter Rhoda Ezell, one large pewter dish, etc; to 3y
Jesse Lyles, one brown mare about i3 years old; my grandsor3

Potts, to have the colt; my daughters Rhoda Ezell, Ell Z
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Pp, 50-51: Will of Nathan Sandage of Union County.. to my wife
Mary Sandage, 100 acres whereon I now live and 100 acres adj. said
tract adj. David Stewarts, and 25 acres adj. where I now live adj.
Jseorge Hope; all stock, etc,, after her decease to my son Thomas
sandage, 100 acres; my son Nathan Sandage to have a tract on south
side Cane Creek adj, Simon Creach, Peter Hedgpeth, John Boclare; to
my son Thomas Sandage, gray mare; John Hawkins,. James Smith,
2xrs., 28th day of 8 month 1800, Nathan Sandage (Seal), Wit: Geard

lrammel (X), Leah Trammel (X), Fanny Pruit (X). Proven and
‘ecorded 5 April 1819,

’p. 51-52: Will of Alexander Macbeth Senr of Union District,
Jlanter.... to my brother John McBeth, all my plantation on each
iide of fair forest with the mills, during his life and at his decease
0 be reverted to his second daughter Henrietta McBeth; to said
ienrietta, a negro woman Caty and her eldest son Jerry, and Selinda
he eldest daughter of a woman named Nancy; to his third daughter
vary McBeth, negro boy Ephralm, the second son of Catys and
{arriet, the second daughter of Nancys; the residue of my estate
oth real and personal that in my own private name, and that in
vhich T am one half concerned with John Moncrieff of Charleston, to
ny brothers James and John McBeth both of South Carolina and four
isters Elizabeth, Jennett, Mary and Henrietta, all of that part of
sreat Britain called Scotland; to my friend Alexr Hay, my gold
vatch; james McBeth of Charleston and John McBeth and Alexr Hay
f Union District, exrs,, 10 Apr 1819, Alexr MacBeth (LS), Wit:
¥illiam White, James Berry, John McBeth,

’pe 52-53: WIill of James Harris of Union District,.. to my sister
*olly Harris, negro man Pinder, and negro woman Mariah, and that
hey continue on the plantation during the life of my father and
nother; to my sister Polly Harris, tract | purchased from Thomas
icott and as the said Thomas Scott has not made a deed of
‘onveyance to me, he convey said land to my sister Polly Harris; all
he remainder at the death of my death and mother to Nicholas
larris, Isaac Harris, John Hall and Thomas Scott, to be equally
ivided between them; my brother John Harris and Andrew Thomson
‘sgr., exrs., 26 Apr 1819, James Harris (LS), Wit: A. Thomson John
‘hcomzslvoanl,9 William Nance, John P. Archibald. Proved & recorded 7
une »

'p. 53-54: Will of Bird Booker of Union District... to my daughter
Aartha Hopkins, negroes (named); to my daughter Mary Wright,
iegroes {named); to my son Thomas Booker, negroes (named); to my
randdaughter Elizabeth Booker daughter of my son Achilles Booker
vith this provision If in case her mother or friends doth not charge
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her for boarding, a promasary note on my son Thomas Booker for
$1500; remainder of my estate to my three daughters Anns Booker,
Elizabeth Glenn and Sarah Booker; tract I live on purchased of Col.
William Farr, Thomas Shockley and Joseph Hollingsworth; my five
daughters Martha Hopkins, Mary Wright, Ann Booker, Elizabeth Glenn
and Sarah Booker; Willlam Wright and my son Thomas Booker, exrs.,
5 Oct 1818, Bird Booker (Seal), Wit: Bernd Glenn, Ann Foster, George
Perry. Proved & recorded 20 Oct 1819,

Page 54: Request of John Hall, to my wife Betsey all my property,
and at her death or marrlage then an equal division amongst all my
children, she only takes to herself a childs part if intermarriage; my
son Joseph to have the Josiah Shelton tract and negro Sike; my
daughter Is to have the negroes that they always clalmed; 6 Feb
1819, James Foote keep the within request for my sake and if I die
without a will please have it punctually fulfilled; 8 Feb 1819, Proven
& recorded 13 Nov 1818,

Pp. 54-55: Wil of Willlam Kennedy of Union District... to my son
Benjamin, negro woman Agnes, stock, etc; except my horse and
saddle which 1 glve to my grandson Willlam Kennedy son of Jesse
Kennedy; 19 March 1819, William Kennedy (LS}, Wit: Robert Dauvis,
Thomas G, Davis, [ames L, Davis.

Pp. 55-56: Will of Wiliam McCreight Senr of Union District,
planter,... to Fanny my wife whom I make executrix, all my lands
and household goods durlng her lifetime; to Eleanor Wilson my eldest
daughter, $100; to my eldest son Robt McCreight, $100; to my next
eldest son Willlam McCreight Junr.,, whom I also make executor, my
large bible and $100; to my next eldest daughter Agnes Gregory,
negra girl Matllda; her first child to be given to Ann W. Gregory my
granddaughter; to my next eldest son David McCreight, whom I also
make an executor, 200 acres after my wifes death; to my next eldest
son James McCreight, 200 acres; 153 Jan 1819, William McCreight
(Seal), Wit: James McCluney, James Wilson, James McCreight,
Proved & recorded 28 Feb 1820~

Pp. 56-57: Wil of@fﬂg@f_@f Unlon District... whatever
property given to me by my late husband equally divided between my
two sons Aguilla & Lot except two horses; the oldest of the two
horses to my daughter Susan; the youngest of said horses to my
daughter Eleanor; to my daughter Eleanor a small tract on Browns
Creek deed to me by Lot Porter, and then to belong to her daughter
Juliann; to my said Juliann my desk and two counterpanes and to
Cynthe McJunkins, the daughter of Polly Bentley, my bed and bed
clothes; a bed & furniture to Nelly; remainder divided between

R
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Pp. 50-51: Will of Nathan Sandage of Union County... to my wife
Mary Sandage, 100 acres whereon | now live and 100 acres adj., said
tract adj, David Stewarts, and 25 acres adj. where 1 now live adj.
George Hope; all stock, etc., after her decease to my son Thomas
Sandage, 100 acres; my son Nathan Sandage to have a tract on south
side Cane Creek adj. Simon Creach, Peter Hedgpeth, John Boclare; to
my son Thomas Sandage, gray mare; john Hawkins, James Smith,
exrs., 29th day of 8 month 1800, Nathaf Sandage |Seal), Wit: Geard
Trammel (X), Lesh Trammel (X}, Fanny Pruit {X). Proven and
recorded 5 Aprl! 1819,

Pp. 51-52: Will of Alexander Macbeth Senr of Union District,
planter.... to my brother John McBeth, all my plantation on each
side of fair forest with the mills, during his life and at his decease
to be reverted to his second daughter Heorietta McBeth; to said
Henrietta, a negro woman Caty and her eldest son Jerry, and Selinda
the eldest daughter of a woman named Nancy; to his third daughter
Mary McBeth, negro boy Ephraim, the second son of Catys and
Harriet, the second daughter of Nancys; the residue of my estate
both real and personal that in my own private name, and that in
which I am one half concerned with John Moncrieff of Charleston, to
my brothers James and John McBeth both of South Carolina and four
sisters Elizabeth, Jennett, Mary and Henrietta, all of that part of
Great Britain called Scotland; to my friend Alexr Hay, my gold
watch; James McBeth of Charleston and John McBeth and Alexr Hay
of Unlon District, exrs.,, 10 Apr 1819. Alexr MacBeth (LS}, Wit:
William White, James Berry, John McBeth,

Pp. 52-53: Will of James Harris of Union District.... to my si
Pally Harris, negro man Pinder, and negro woman Mariah, and
they continue on the plantation during the life of my fath
mother; to my sister Polly Harris, tract 1 purchased from
Scott and as the sald Thomas Scott has not made a deed o
conveyance to me, he convey said land to my sister Polly Harris; all
the remalnder at the death of my death and mother to Nicholas
Harris, I[saac Harris, John Hail and Thomas Scott, to be equally
divided between them; my brother John Harris and Andrew Thomson
Esqr., exrs., 26 Apr 1819, James Harris (LS}, Wit: A. Thomson John
Thomson, William Nance, John P. Archibald. Proved & recorded 7
June 1819,

Pp. 53-54: Will of Bird Booker of Union District... to my daughter
Martha Hopkins, negroes {named); to my daughter Mary Wright,
negroes (named); to my son Thomas Booker, negroes (named); to my
granddaughter Elizabeth Booker daughter of my son Achilles Booker
with this provision if in case her mother or friends doth not charge

o]0
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her for boarding, a promasary note on my son Thomas Booker
$1500; remainder of my estate to my three daughters Anna Bool
Elizabeth Glenn and Sarah Booker; tract [ live on purchased of !
William Farr, Thomas Shockley and Joseph Hollingsworth; my

daughters Martha Hopkins, Mary Wright, Ann Booker, Elizabeth G
and Sarah Booker; Willlam Wright and my son Thomas Booker, &
5 Oct 1818, Bird Booker (Seal), WIt: Bernd Glenn, Ann Foster, Ge
Perry., Proved & recorded 20 Oct 1819,

Page 54: Request of John Hall, to my wife Betsey all my prope
and at her death or marriage then an equal divislon amongst all
chiidren, she only takes to herself a childs part if intermarriage;
son Joseph to have the Josiah Shelton tract and negro Sike;
daughter Is to have the negroes that they always claimed; &
1819, James Foote keep the within request for my sake and if I
without a will please have it punctually fulfilled; 8 Feb 1819. Pr:
& recorded 13 Nov 1819,

Pp. 54-55: Will of William Kennedy of Unifon District... to my
Benjamin, negro woman Agnes, stock, etc; except my horse
saddle which 1 give to my grandson William Kennedy son of |
Kennedy; 19 March 1819. Willlam Kennedy (LS), Wit: Robert D
Thomas G. Davis, James L. Davis.

Pp. 55-56: Will of Willlam McCreight Senr of Union Disl
w to Fanny my wife whom I make executrix, all my .
sehold goods during her lifetime; to Eleanor Wilson my e
ter, $100; to my eldest son Robt McCrelght, $100; to my
san William McCreight Junr,, whom 1 also make executor,
largé” bible and $100; to my next eldest daughter Agnes Gre
negro girl Matilda; her first child to be given to Ann W. Gregor)
granddaughter; to my next eldest son David McCreight, whom I
make an executor, 200 acres after my wifes death; to my next €
son James McCrelght, 200 acres; 15 Jan 1819. Willlam McCr
(Seal), Wit: James McCluney, James Wilson, James McCre
Proved & recorded 28 Feb 1820,

Pp. 56-57: Will of Mary McJunkin of Union District.. wha
property given to me by my late husband equally divided betwee
two sons Aquills & Lot except two horses; the oldest of the
horses to my daughter Susan; the youngest of said horses tc
daughter Eleanor; to my daughter Eleanot a small tract on Ba
Creek deed to me by Lot Porter, and then to belong to her dau
Juliann; to my sald Jullann my desk and two counterpanes ar
Cynthe McJunkins, the daughter of Polly Bentley, my bed and
clothes; a bed & furniture to Neily; remainder divided bet
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Juliann McJunkin & Polly Harris; 1 Nov 1819, Mary McJunkin (X)
(Seal), Wit: James Meng, Sally Meng Julian Mcjunkin (X), Proved &
recorded 22 March 1820.

Page 57: Will of Elizabeth Sims of Union District... to Ephraim
Liles Junr, two negroes and children (named); if said Ephraim Liles
Junr should die without issue, then to my grandson David Hopkins
Sims; to Elizabeth Hardy Senr.,, my riding horse and saddle; Ephraim
Liles Junr., exr., 28 May 1810, Elizabeth Sims (Seal), Wit: Jeremiah
Stevens, Elizabeth Hardy, Samuel Hardy. Proved & recorded 28 Apr
1820,

Pp. 58-59: Will of Philip Holcombe, late of Union District deceased
declared by him by word of mouth 6 March 1820.... the land where [
now live remain my wife during her life or widowhood for her
support and at her death to be sold and money be equally divided
between my three daughters Elizabeth Little, Katharine Bruton,
Charlotte Harland, alse negroes Luke, Nancy, Jack, Abe, Lin, continue
with my wife; my son David to take charge of the plantation and
negroes and manage the planting Interest for his mother; my brothers
Nevel & Jesse Holcome |udge & determine what is right; land on
south of Dining Creek and west of Charleston road be my son in
laws George Brutons & his wife Katharine; my four children David
Holcome, Elizabeth Little, Katherine Bruton, and Charlotte Harlon;
my wife and son David Holcome, exr., 9 March 1820, Witz David
Holcome, Katherine Bruton (X), Sarah Harcome, Proved 9 March
1820, by David Holcombe, George Bruton, Haran Harlan, wit: Wm
White, john Hart. Recorded 4 July 1820,

Pp. 59-60: Will of Mosses Ashford of Union District... to my
daughter Polly Ashford, two negroes (named), two feather beds, etc;
to my daughter Anna Ashford, two negroes {named), two feather beds,
etc; to my son George Ashford, two negroes (named), feather beds,
etc; residue of my estate to be sold in North and South Carclina and
products of the sales to be equally divided between my above named
three children; Nathan Hawkins, Peter Tucker, exrs., 9 July 1820,
Moses Ashford (Seal), Wit: Hendley McShan, Grief Crenshaw, Saml
Hardy. Proved & recorded 23 Aug 1820.

Pp. 60-61: Will of Baxter Mosely of Unlon District.... all estate both
real and personal to remaln in the possession of my wife Henrietta
Mosely for herself and small children until the youngest son Daniel
shall arrive at the age of 2l; at the marriage or death of my wife
or If she is likely to squander the estate, then to be taken Into
possession by my executor and converted to the use of my children;
William Henderson, Edmund Hames, exrs., 29 Oct i1820. Baxter Mosely

[of 7
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(X) (LS}, Wit: James Mosely, John Mosely, John James (X).
and recorded 6 Nov 1820. Executors of Baxter Mosely ref
qualify, 4 }Jan 1821.

Page 61: Will of Nancy White... to my daughter Nancy Whi
young mare, half of my cattle, etc; to my son Wm W. Whi
other half of my cattle; to my son Coleman White, my mare;
daughter Polly Holmes, my loom & furniture; to my son lsaac
my big Bible; to my daughter Hannah Stribling, my wash pot;
daughter Susannah Hart, farming utenslls; to my daughter
McCollum, two chairs; 13 Nov 1820. Nancy White (X) (LS), Wi
White, Wm. Boyce, Henry Gault, Proved & recorded 14 Nov 1

Page 62: Will of John Putman, June 5th 1815... after a dedu
what the elder children has already recelved, the rest whe
leave us or their mother may recelve the same in proportion
being accounted for; my wife Sally Putman and Nathan Har
Solomon Putman, exrs., John Putman. Wit: James Keatings,
Wilder, Thomas P. Howard, Nancy Putman,

Pp. 62-63: Wil of Lucy Tucker of Union District... the res
my estate after debts are paid to be equally divided between
children Robert Tucker, Joseph Tucker, Lucy Wrights children
Tucker, Polly Wright, Frances Tucker & Elizabeth Buford;
Robert Tucker, my son Joseph Tucker, my son Peter and my ¢
Polly Wright be the possessers of all my negroes equal
executors do not give up my daughter Elizabeth Bufords part
not her hushand Henry Buford, but purchase her a tract of la
home with it to be made over to her and her children; my ¢
Olline Hardy shall have one shilling sterling in addition to w
has already received; Samuel Hardy, Nathan Sims, exrs., 6§ Au
Lucy Tucker (X) (Seal), Wit: John H. Ragsdale, Willis Freem
Elizabeth Hardy, Proved & recorded 25 Dec 1820,

Pp. 63-64: Wil of [saac McBride of Union Districti.. to r
the whole of my lands, during her widowhood for the use and
of herself and our children; if my wife should marry that s
the one third; my wife and my son Andrew W, J. McBride, &
March 1820, Isaac McBride (LS), Wit: Rich C. Thomson,
Thomason, John V. Thomson. Proved & recorded 1 Jan 1821,

Pp. 64-65: Will of Jonas Little of Union District... to my
my plantation and tract of land whereon I now live and
decease to be equally divided among my children; to o
Rebecca Little, negro girl Susey; my wife Rebecca should hi
third part of my estate, and at her decease to be equally



» UNION COUNTY WILL BOOK B (TRANSCRIPT)

Glenn, Willlam W, Glenn, Sarah C. Glenn, Thomas A. Glenn, and Jane
S. C. Glenn; my son Thomas A, and Jane 8. C. should have negroes
and money to make them equal with my other children when that
arrive at lawful age or marry; my wife Elizabeth Glenn, negro girl
Charity, etc, and remain in possession of my land on both sides of
Tiger River adj. Henry Hardy, Nathan Hawkins, John and William P,
Sarter, Richard Teagle, Hawkin Selby, estate of David Prewit, Estate
of Elijah Anderson, John Rogers and Darbys land and negroes (named);
my tract I bought of Samuel Otterson to my three sons Nathan,
William W. and Thomas A. Glenn; my sons Nathan, Willlam W., and
Thomas A. Glenn, exrs., 28 March 1827. Wm C. Glenn (LS), Wi
Spilsby Glenn, James B, Glenn, Thomas Bowkin,

Pp. 126-127: 4 July 1827, will of Mary Prewit of Union District....
to my son Elias Prewit, one bed and furniture; to my daughter Any
Smith, one bed and furniture; to my son John Prewit, one bed and
furniture; rest of my estate divided between the whole of my
children Elias Prewit, Any Smith, Aaron Prewit, John Prewit,
Elizabeth Sumner, Elxander Prewit and Fanny Prewit; my son John
Prewit and my son in law James Smith, exrs., Mary Prewit (X) (LS},
Wit: Jeffrey Palmer, Daniel Palmer, Proven and recorded 19 Nov
1827,

Pp, 127-128: Will of James Johnson of Union District... to my son
Marthew my negroes Suck and Stepney; to my son Wyatt, negro man
Gust and 100 acres that he now lives on; to my son Robert, negro
woman Fillis and 100 acres of land where he now lives; remainder of
property to be sold at my wifes death or wedding and equally divided
among my six daughters July White, Polly Whitmore, Olive Vinson,
Agney Hancock, Nancy Cole and Nutty Johnson; my friend. Ricketson
Lipsey, exr,, 12 May 1825; James Johnson (LS}, Wit: Nathan Vinson,
George White, Ricketson Lipsey. Proven and recorded 19 Dec 1327,

Page 128: Will of William F. Gist of Union District.... to my friend
William Nanse, my long deer shot gun; to my brother Joseph Gist,
two negroes {named), stock and money; my brother Joseph Gist, exr,,
24 Oct 1824, Wm. F, Gist ({LS), Wit: Alexander Nance, Anthony
Bennett, Joshua Palmer. Proven and recorded 14 Jan 1828,

Pp. 128-129: Will of John Palmer of Union district.... t¢c my wife
Hannah Palmer, tract I bought of Alul{?) lzell, 94 1/2 acres with
three negroes (named, three horses (named), eight cattle, beds and
furniture, tools, etc; to my son Amasa Palmer, negro woman Letty;
to my son Hezekiah, one stud horse; to my daughter nancy Edwards,
her note for $250 that | lent her and $250; the rest of my property
be equally divided between my eight children and my grandson

Y
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William Palmer, Amasa, Hezekiah Nancy, ]_ohn, Sally, Rdelsaac
and Rhoda, for which | appoint my son Ellis PalmerKaiaedy’
exrs., 20 Nov 1826; john Palmer {Seal), Wit: Thos bew?s'
Kennedy, William Palmer, Proven and recorded 4 Fe 1
Page 130: Will of Jethro L. Reid of Union Dlstnd-*};e ch
Josgeph Reid or York District and Lem B, Askew to 1!15 jan lv
all my estate for the advantage of my legatees... , pro
L. Reid. Wit: P. P. Taylor, D. G. Sims, john McLuré

recorded 28 Feb 1828,
cter’
as®

Pp. 130~131: Will of William Sharp Sr. _of Umpn Distf;rch
wife Sarah, the lands on which I reside which I P 44
Cooper, Jolly, Porter and Brandon, about 511 ac;:‘esfthreees
(named), cattle, etc; at her death of marriage to er st &5
Nancy, Nimrod and John; residue of my real angl pe:;i ces geo
be equally divided among my children by my first Wit: o
james Meng, exr., 6 May 1823. Wm. Sharp (X) (LSl.b 1324} o
Vance, Charles Meng, Julian Hix, Codicil dated 3 Fe . P o
wife an executrix, wit: Richard Thomson, Jashua Palme ; q
recorded 3 March 1828, Sarah Sharp (X), refused
executrix, 5 March 1838.

—

[
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Pp. 131-132; Will of Wiiliam Lawson Senr... my g;iwy
waggon and gear, which is one half, to be my son g 161‘61'
with two horses; to my daughter Polly, my §plnnlng mac’ 7 'n q
calf and note of hand on William Bailey for $gﬂd50y{a“
granddaughter Malissey, bed and furniture; o mfy grli‘v‘ 5 os o
Hansel, one cow and calf now in possession o qurﬂ 5y
father; to my wife Susanna Lawson, all .ttfe rest Oon ‘74
son Jacob Lawson, exr., 24 Dec 16827. William La;ﬂﬁs s
Wm White, Fred Jackson jr. Proven and recorded _ o

. - r‘
Pp. 133-135: Will of William Wallace of Union Dlst;lgt%}e,%e.
estate, but my executors to choose five dismtere:twlsio v
assess and value my negroes and make an equal sl -
wife Jennet Wallace and my six children; to n}y ahe
Wallace a horse, when he arrives [o ‘the v&;gﬁage m’y' ¥
Mary Ann Wallace, my daughter Caroline Wa v o

Wallace, my son James M. Wallace, my son Willlam -",,

i ife J= =
W. Wallace, Francis Parham and my w
S??!P:ft 13 Nov 182'5. Wwm Wallace (LS}, Wit John foaﬁﬂ

Rodgers, D. A. Mitchell, Proven and recorded 19 May

 Duste B
Pp. 135-137: Will of Zachariah Nance of lémg;l ;-E;s -~
trect of land 1 now live on, 173 acres, an £
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etc,, to my wife Mary Nance; to her death to my sons Lawroll N.
Na}nce, Zachariah Nance, and paying my daughters Sarah Nance, &
Elizabeth Hall, $100 each; to my daughter F anny Briant, [ have given
$25; to my son James Nance, | have given $500 in property, and my
executors are to furnish him with $12 appually; to my daughter Sarah
Nance, negro woman Sharlotte, negro girl Lucinda, and $50; to my
daughter Patsey Littlefield, $375; to my son John Nance, tract |
bought of Nathaniel Rogers, and negro boy Solomon; to my son
Fiemming B, Nance, I have given property to the amount of $600; to
my son Laurell Nance, I hgave given negro boy Daniel and some
money; to my daughter Mary McGanty, I have given $25, also the
debts { have pald for her the note & receipt now lying in my house
taken up from W. R. Wilburn, obtained by Jas. Moore; to my
daughter Peggy Hall, one negro girl Nanny; to my daughter Elizabeth
Hall, negro girl Amey; my son Zackariah Nance, I have given $30,
also one negro girl Theresey; to Laurell N. Nance, negro boy Jess;
my wife Mary Nance, son Laurell N. Nance, exrs,, 1 Aug 1828,
Zackariah Nance (LS), Wit: James Smith, Marrymon Lawson (X),
James Proctor. Proven and recorded 9 Feb 1829,

Pl_n. 137-139: Will of James C, Mayhew of Union District.... to my
wife Sarah Mayhew, all my estate real and personal, with the advice
of her friends Thomas Craven and Daniel A. Mitchell, for herself and
my children Harlan, Hester Ann, Mary, Elizabeth, and Sarah; my wife
Sarah Mayhew, and my son Harlan Mayhew, exrs., 12 June 1828.
James C, Mayhew (Seal), Wit: Elias High, Amos Lee, wm Rice,
Proven and recorded 23 March 1829,

Pp. 139-140: Will of Sookey Jasper widow of John Jasper decd.... to
EFiward Haymes, 155 acres; to my sisters Moilly Foster and Massey
Fitch, money arising from sale of stock, household furniture, etc; to
Edward Hyames, twelve negroes (named); the negro Jack to the
children of John George ; Isaac J. Foster and Edmund Haymes, exrs.,
15 Aug 1823; Susannah Jasper (X) (LS), Wit: John Puckett, Samue]
Moseley, Charles Garrett. Proven 25 May 1829,

Pp._ 140-141: Will of Rebecca Miller daughter of Dennis Miller of
Un;on D_istr‘iCt... to John Rodgers, esqr., now Clerk of Court of
Union District, every species of property formerly deeded to me by
my father Dennis Miller, recorded in Book 7, page 401, as trustee for
my_father Dennis Miller and my step mother Frances Miller, and at
th_elr decease to my brother George Miller, 28 Oct 1828, Rebecca
Miller (X), Wit: Rebt G, H, Farr, Nancy comer {(X), Gearge Miller
(X). Proven by Robt G. H. Farr, 19 June 1829,

| %0
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Pp. 141-143: Will of Daniel Lipham of Goshen hill, Union Disi
to my kinsman James Jenkins son of Martin D. Jenkins,
whereon the store stands known as the store tract; to my k
Felix Jenkins son of the said M. D, Jenkins, all lands betwe
lands willed to James and the lands formerly by Wm Rogers
the line between Felix and James to run the course of Jos
Rodgers from the side next to Goshen, above the school house
to my kinsman Thomas Jenkins son of the said M. D, Jenkins
whereon I now live known as Dunlaps tract, and to be annexe«
the thirty feet square including the grave of my mother never
soid; to Nancy Jenkins my neice, one feather bed and furniti
Eliza Jenkins, daughter of said M. D. Jenkins, one feather b
furniture and one walnut chest; to Adaline Jenkins, daughter
M. D, Jenkins, one bed and furniture; all effects not willed,
neice Nancy Jenkins; my land not to be rented to James Hun
nephews Henry Daniel and Jjohn Lipham and my neices Betsey
& Madileddy, $100 each; Maj.(?) Johnson keep the Store hou
year after my decease; my friends Thomas Stribling, Peter D
James Davis or Henry Stephens, exrs., 24 Sept 1827. Danie] |
{LS), Wit: Richard Leverett, Levi Rogers, Jesse Rogers. Cadi
Marctin D. Jenkins, my scythe and cradle, and to keep the
Books carefully in remembrance of me, [same signatur
witnesses], another ‘codicil dated 13 June 1829, witnessed b
Rogers, Jesse Rogers, Thomas E. Davis. Danjel Lipham (LS),
by Jesse Rogers, 22 June 1829. .

Pp. 144-147: Will of William Sorter Senior of Union District.
my beloved wife, plantation whereon I now live, about 1,000
during her natural life, stock, cattle, etc, and negroes (named);
son Thomas, negroes (named); to my son Daniel, negroes (I
negroes (named) for the use of my daughter Polly Farr, wife ¢
P, Farr, and at her death to be equally divided amongst her ¢
in fee simple; negroes (named) for the use of my daughte:
Beaty, wife of Col. Samuel Beaty, and then to be equally
amongst her children in fee simple; negroes (named) and tract
acres called the meeting house tract whereon my son in law
McJunkins Jur now lives in trust for the use of my daughter
McJunkin wife of said Joseph McJunkin, and at her death
equally divided amongst her children in fee simple; to my so
P., negroes (named); after the death of my wife, the pla
whereon | now live to the benefit of my two daughters Poll
and Sally Beaty; my sons Thomas and John P. Sartor, and my
law Samuel Beaty, exrs.,, 2 May 1829, Wm Sartor (Seal}, Wit
Herndon, §. C. Tucker, A, W, Thomson, Proved by L. P. Hern
June 1829. Codicil: mentions land adj. Peter Tucker, Benjami
and leaves his wife only a life estate. dated 21 May 182



